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1. Name of Property
Historic name C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home
Other names/site number Lynn Funeral Home; 717 Building

2. Location
street & number 717 Tacoma Avenue South not for publication
city or town _ Tacoma vicinity
State  Washington  code = WA county Pierce code 053 zip code 98402

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1986, as amended, | hereby certify that this X
nomination ___ request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the
National Register of Hjstpric Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my
opinion, the property meets ___ does not meet the National Register criteria. | recommend that this property be considered
significant ___ nationally ___ statewide X locally. ( __ See continuation sheet for additional comments.)
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State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property ___meets ____does not meet the National Register criteria. ( __ See continuation sheet for
additional comments.)

Signature of certifying official/Title Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

4. Natigfial Park Service Certification
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entered in the National Register. //L 30 ‘ 6 5/
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___ determined eligible for the
National Register.
___ See continuation sheet

____ determined not eligible for the
National Register.

___removed from the
National Register.

___ other (explain:)
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5. Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property
(Check as many boxes as apply) (Check only one box
X private X building(s)
public-local district
public-State site
public-Federal structure
object

Name of related multiple property listing:
(Enter "N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing.)

N/A

Number of Resources within Property
(Do not incl. previously listed resources in the count.)

Contributing Non-Contributing
1 buildings
sites
structures
objects
1 Total

Number of contributing resources previously
listed in the National Register

N/A

6. Functions or Use

Historic Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

FUNERARY /mortuary

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

COMMERCE/TRADE /business

COMMERCE/TRADE /business

DOMESTIC /multiple dwelling

DOMESTIC /multiple dwelling

Work in progress

7. Description

Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions)

LATE 19t & 20t CENTURY REVIVALS/

Classical Revival and Mission/Spanish

Colonial Revival

Narrative Description

Materiais
(Enter categories from instructions)

foundation Concrete

walls Concrete

Brick

roof Tar

other Clay tile

(Describe the historic and current condition of the property.) SEE CONTINUATION SHEET
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8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria

(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the
property

for National Register listing.)

x A Property is associated with events that have

made a significant contribution to the broad patterns
of our history.

B Property is associated with the lives of persons
significant in our past.

x € Property embodies the distinctive characteristics
of a type, period, or method of construction or
represents the work of a master, or possesses high
artistic values, or represents a significant
and distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield,
information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark "x" in all the boxes that apply.)

Property is:

A owed by a religious institution or used for
religious purposes.

B removed from its original location.

C abirthplace or grave.

D acemetery.

E areconstructed building, object, or structure.
F acommemorative property.

G less than 50 years old or achieving significance
within the past 50 years.

Narrative Statement of Significance

Areas of Significance
(Enter categories from instructions)

Commerce

Architecture

Period of Significance

1918 — 1950

Significant Dates
1918 (Original Building)

1950 (Addition)

Significant Person
(Complete if Criterion B is marked above)

Cultural Affiliation

Architect/Builder
Lundberg, C.F.W. and Mahon, Frank
(Architects)

Silas E. Nelsen (Architect)

(Explain the significance of the property.) SEE CONTINUATION SHEET

9. Major Bibliographical References

Bibliography
(Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form.)

Previous documentation on file (NPS):

____ preliminary determination of individual listing
(36 CFR 67) has been requested
____ previously listed in the National Register
previously determined eligible by the National
" Register
___ designated a National Historic Landmark
#
recorded by Historic American Engineering

Record#

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET

Primary location of additional data:

State Historic Preservation Office
Other State agency

Federal agency

Local government

___ University
x__ Other

Name of repository:
Tacoma Public Library Northwest Room

Washington State Historical Society

City of Tacoma Building and Land Use Dept
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10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property Under one acre

UTM References
(Place additional UTM References on a continuation sheet.)

1110 |5]49) 992 | |52]37] 62 | 3] | | | | |

L

]

Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting

211 31 1 5 o+ 11 | |

Northing

Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting
Verbal Boundary Description
(Describe the boundaries of the property.) See continuation sheet.

Boundary Justification
(Explain why the boundaries were selected.) See continuation sheet.

Northing

11. Form Prepared By

nameftite Michael Sullivan, Principal and Eugenia Woo, Associate

organization  Artifacts Consulting, Inc. date July 8, 2005

street & number 201 N. Yakima Ave. telephone  253.572.4599

city or town Tacoma state WA zip code

98403

Additional Documentation

Submit the following items with the completed form:

Continuation Sheets

Maps
A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's location.
Site plan
Floor plans
Assessor's map
Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps

Photographs

Representative black and white photographs of the property.
Historic photographs

Additional items
(Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items.)

Property Owner (Complete this item at the request of the SHPO or FPO.)

name Seven-Seventeen Investors, LLC

street & number 7457 S. Madison St. telephone 253.474.5281

city or town Tacoma state WA zip code

98409
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Narrative Description:
Setting

Constructed in 1918 with a 1950 addition, the C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home building (717 Tacoma Ave. S.) is
located mid-block on the east side of Tacoma Avenue South at South 8" Street on the western edge of downtown
Tacoma in Pierce County, Washington. Tacoma Avenue South runs north-south and South 8" Street runs east-
west. Tacoma Avenue South serves as a major arterial between South Tacoma and the Stadium-Seminary
neighborhood to the north. South 8" Street terminates at Tacoma Avenue South and travels west up to the Hilltop
neighborhood, the city’s first residential district. Downtown Tacoma is characterized by its hills, bluffs, and slopes
descending from west to east.

The building sits on a rectangular lot (18,000 square feet) oriented toward the west. The site slopes down to the
east to the adjacent alley (Court E). The building is set back approximately ten feet on the west side, allowing for a
small landscaped area in front of the building and creating a more residential feel to the property. A 1950 addition
1s adjacent to the north. To the north of the addition is a contemporary, one-story office building that houses law
offices. To the south are an accessory surface parking lot for the building and another surface parking lot in the
next parcel owned by Tacoma Public Schools. The 1913 Tacoma School District Administration Building
(originally Tacoma Public High School) sits prominently to the west across Tacoma Avenue South. To the east are
an alley named Court E and some one-story garage and commercial buildings.

The Lynn Co. Funeral Home building is located a few blocks west of the Old City Hall Historic District (National
Register and Tacoma Register) which contains some of Tacoma’s most architecturally significant buildings and
was the city’s early commercial, governmental and entertainment center from the mid-1880s until the 1920s.

For ease of description, the original building and the addition are described separately.
Exterior: 1918 Building

The C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home building is a two-story (with full daylight basement), Classical Revival style
(with some Spanish Mission style elements), mixed-use building. The building’s stylistic elements are found on the
main facade which is symmetrical with a center, raised main entrance through a multi-columned porch. The
building’s porch entrance, fenestration, and doors help define its Classical composition and style. The red clay tile
roof and overhanging eave with wood brackets and modillions give the building some of its Spanish Mission
influence.

The building has a poured concrete foundation and features a rectangular footprint measuring 50° x 110° with a
shallow indentation on the south facade. The rear (east) portion of the building is one-story with a full daylight
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basement. The structure is reinforced concrete and brick. The basement floor walls are poured-in-place concrete, as
is a portion of the second floor system. The exterior walls of the first and second floors are multi-wythe brick. The
north, south, and east facades are clad in red brick and the north facade is painted white. The main (west) facade is
clad in tan brick. The exterior basement walls are painted a cream color. A terra cotta stringcourse separates the
first and second stories on the west facade.

The front (west) third of the building is characterized by its side gable roof with terra cotta coping and red clay
tiles. The west facade is further characterized by an overhanging eave with decorative wood brackets and exposed
rafter tails at the cornice line. The back two-thirds of the building has a flat roof. A brick chimney which services
the fireplace in the large apartment unit rises above the roof on the north end.

The windows on the west and south facades are historic, wood, multi-light, casement windows framed with terra
cotta trim. The first floor casement windows on the west facade are round arched, topped with terra cotta
keystones. The south facade wood casement windows are set into brick, segmental arched openings with brick sills.
Two new window openings on the rear portion of the south facade were recently created and fixed, multi-light
wood windows were installed. The rear (east) facade also has two new window openings on the first floor with the
same fixed, multi-light wood windows. The historic windows in the three original window openings have been
replaced by fixed windows. There is one small casement window on the north facade of the original building.

Entrances to the building are found on the front and rear facades. The formal main entrance to the building is off
Tacoma Avenue South on the west side through a porch entry. A set of historic French doors with a terra cotta
surround leads into the entry hall on the first floor. A narrow, multi-lite, fixed window is located on either side of
the double door entry. Porch lighting consists of two historic metal sconces attached to the wall that flank the
French doors. The porch structure is supported by six, round, painted, metal Doric columns (three on each side)
which rest on a concrete porch floor. The porch supports a balustrade for the deck above. The upper portion of the
porch structure serves as a deck for the upper floor which is accessed through three French doors from the
apartment unit. Secondary entrances on the west facade are found on the north and south ends. Concrete steps lead
up to the multi-light wood doors topped with round arches with terra cotta tnm and keystones. The door at the
south end leads to a flight of stairs providing access to the two second floor apartment units. The door at the north
end leads into the lobby. The rear facade contains two service entrances that lead into the basement level off the
alley. There is one opening with a roll-up door and one personnel door opening that is currently boarded over.

In terms of historic uses, the basement floor contained a garage, loading dock to receive caskets, furnace and boiler
rooms, general storage space, display room for caskets, two vaults for storing bodies, and a room that housed the
mechanics of the pipe organ. The first floor served as the formal space for services. There was a lobby, a central
chapel, restrooms, preparation laboratories, display rooms for caskets, slumber roon1s, a music room, offices, and
reception and family rooms. A large elevator for transporting caskets and bodies connected the basement to the first
floor. The second floor contained two apartment units. The units were used by the family and employees. Access to
the units is through the secondary entrance on Tacoma Avenue South at the south end.
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Landscaping for the property can be seen in the front and consists of lawn, shrubs, and a strip of flowering plants
along the perimeter of the porch and building.

Interior: 1918 Building

The interior of the C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home building maintains most of its historic spaces, volume, and
finishes. The basement has always served as a utilitarian space with concrete floors, walls, columns, and beams.
The original garage, the elevator shaft, restrooms in the southeast corner, and an open area used for storage and
work area all remain. A set of stairs at the southwest corner of the garage leads up to the first (main) floor. The
basement is a full daylight basement which receives natural light from its bank of windows on the south wall.

The first floor presents a more formal space. Design details are limited to door and window trim, molding,
pilasters, paneled walls, and door hardware. The simple design of the door and window trim can be seen
throughout the building on both the first and second floors. A lobby is located through the main entry. To the right
(south) is a reception area in the former main office space. The lobby opens into a space that will become a
conference room. Access into the main corridor is through the historic double doors from the lobby; the corridor
can also be accessed through the conference room. On the south side of the corridor are the mechanical room,
separate men’s and women’s restrooms, and five separate offices. The elevator cab at the east end of the corridor
was removed—only the shaft remains. The main space on this floor is the former chapel which is accessed through
two door openings on its south side and one door opening on its north side leading into the hallway of the addition.
The former chapel will be used as an open office space. It retains most of its Classical detailing including the
plaster pilasters, wainscoting, plaster paneled walls, and arched beam ceiling. A door opening on the east end of the
former chapel leads into a hallway that provides access into three offices and a break room. A supply room, located
opposite the break room, is accessed through the main corridor.

Walls throughout the first floor maintain the historic plaster except where new spaces were created or where
openings were filled in. Sheetrock was used for new walls and infill. Different types of flooring material are found
throughout the first floor. The conference room, reception area, main corridor, restrooms, and office adjacent to the
mechanical room have maple floors. The lobby’s historic maple floors are covered with 6” square red tiles. The
former chapel and small offices on the south side have historic fir floors. The offices in the rear and the supply
room have concrete floors.

Historic wood stairs leading up to the second floor apartment units are intact and restored. The apartment corridor
retains the same configuration, its walls retain the historic plaster and the floor is carpeted. The larger apartment
unit occupies the west half of the floor. It is a two-bedroom, one bath unit with a formal entry hall, large living
room, dining room and kitchen. Historic French doors lead out onto a porch roof deck. The historic brick fireplace
with Classical style wood mantel is flanked by built-in wood bookcases with bead board backing. The dining room



NPS Form 10-900-a OMB No. 1024-0018
(8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
CONTINUATION SHEET

Section 7 Page 4 of 7 C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home
PIERCE COUNTY, WASHINGTON

1s located between the kitchen and the living room. The only historic lighting for the apartment units is found in
this room. There are two, art deco-period, sconces with glass slip shades shaped like shells on the east wall of the
dining room. The kitchen contains contemporary cabinets, fixtures, and appliances. The bathroom also contains
contemporary cabinets and fixtures with the exception of the original medicine cabinet. A historic built-in wood
cabinet is located in the hallway between the bathroom and one of the bedrooms. The two bedrooms are the same
size and are reversed in plan. All interior apartment doors and door hardware have been retained.

The walls retain the historic plaster and are decorated with picture rails and molding. The door and window trim in
the unit 1s similar in design to the trim on the first floor. The entry hall, living and dining room floors are oak while
the floors for the kitchen and bathroom feature non-historic tile. The floor in the bedrooms is carpeted.

The smaller apartment unit in the rear half of the second floor is a two-bedroom, one bath unit with an entry hall,
living room, den, dining nook, and kitchen. This was originally a one-bedroom apartment. The original bathroom
was removed and a new one was built along with a second bedroom in the rear. The den is a separate space
between the kitchen nook and living room and is entered through an archway. The living room features a historic,
decorative fireplace. The kitchen contains contemporary cabinets, fixtures, and appliances. The bathroom also
contains contemporary cabinets and fixtures. This unit was originally finished in less expensive materials and does
not contain the molding and trim found in the larger unit. The floors for the living room and den are fir instead of
maple or oak. The floors for the kitchen and bathroom are non-historic tile. The floor in the bedrooms is carpeted.
All windows on the south side of this unit have views of Mount Rainier.

Exterior: 1950 Addition

A one-story addition to the north was constructed in 1950. The simple style of the building reflects some mid-
century Modern elements popular at the time such as the corner windows and the building’s boxy massing. The
addition was designed to be secondary to the original building and is smaller in scale. The plans for the building
were drawn up in 1941 by architect Silas E. Nelsen. However, actual construction did not occur until 1946 and
1950. City of Tacoma building permit records show that a permit was issued in March 1946 for an addition at a
cost of $14,000. No indication is given as to the specific scope of work at this time but the work was inspected by
the City and approved. Another permit was issued in October 1950 for an addition (50’ x 100’) at a cost of
$47,000. Historic photographs from 1948 show the previous single family dwellings on the parcel where the
addition sits. The 1950 Sanborn Fire Insurance Map for Tacoma also shows the two dwellings on the parcel. The
map was published earlier in 1950 before the two houses were demolished and replaced with the addition later that
year. The addition was built according to plan and appears to have been constructed in phases (1946 and 1950).
Since the addition contains a basement, that room may have been built in the first phase and would not have been
visible in the 1948 photograph or 1950 Sanborn map. The addition is L-shaped in plan with the short end of the
“L” at the rear of the property. This portion of the addition is one-story with a full daylight basement. The long end
of the “L” is adjacent to the original building. A deep asphalt driveway leads to the rear portion of the addition
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from Tacoma Avenue South. This portion served as a porte cochere to house processional vehicles when the
building was a funeral home and is currently being converted into office space.

The addition is constructed of poured-in-place concrete walls and floors with a wood-framed first floor. The roof
construction of the long end of the addition features conventional wood joists, whereas the roof framing of the
porte cochere contains heavy timber beams with tongue and groove wood decking. The roof of the addition is flat
with built-up roof material. A brick chimney which services the fireplace in the drawing room rises above the roof
on the south end of the addition. The long end of the “L” of the addition is clad in buff-colored brick. The front
(west) facade has comer windows characterized by metal louver screens on the sides and the north facade has wood
casement windows. The porte cochere section is painted concrete with large, segmental arched, non-historic
aluminum windows in the rear facade and large, non-historic aluminum storefront windows in the front. Access to
the addition on the west side is through the double door opening in the porte cochere. The rear facade is painted
concrete and the portion above the windows is sheathed in painted stucco. Three garage door openings with roll-up
garage doors provide access in the rear off the alley. The addition originally housed offices, a drawing room, family
room, a pallbearers’ vestibule and the porte cochere on the first floor, and a garage on the basement level.

Double French doors on the north side provide entry to the addition from the exterior. Two different points provide
entry into the addition from inside the original building. From the lobby of the original building, a door opening
leads into the vestibule of the addition. Two offices are located at the west end. A staircase outside the offices
provides access to the basement. The double doors in the vestibule lead into a large room that was used as the
drawing room. The main features of the drawing room are the fireplace and the decorative elements along the south
wall. The fireplace features a Classical style wood mantel and the wall panels, molding, and fluted pilasters are also
Classically-inspired. Nelsen designed the interior to complement the more formal elements of the original building
and create a cohesive interior between the addition and the original building. East of the drawing room is a smaller
room used as the family room. This room opens into the former chapel room in the original building. All the rooms
in this section of the addition have carpeted floors, plaster walls and ceilings.

The rear portion of the addition contains separate men’s and women’s restrooms and a large open room that was
built as the porte cochere will serve as office space. This was built as the porte cochere. Limousines and hearses
drove down the long driveway and into the porte cochere which featured a large turntable to turn vehicles around
so they did not have to back out of the driveway onto Tacoma Avenue South. The floor is concrete and the walls
are left as exposed concrete (north and west walls) or brick (south wall which was the exterior brick wall of the
original building). The wood trusses in the porte cochere ceiling are left exposed as well. The walls are currently
being framed and covered with sheetrock.
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Alterations

The C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home building has retained its architectural integrity over its 87 years of existence. The
most significant change was the addition to the building in 1950. The current owners are in the process of
converting the basement and first floor into offices while maintaining the apartment units on the second floor. The
exterior of the building remains largely unchanged and has a high level of integrity. The interior has been changed
to accommodate a new use but still retains most of the original finishes, detailing, and general space and volume.

Following is a list of known alterations to the building:

e The addition was constructed in 1950 with some earlier work performed in 1946.

e 1950 renovation: Alterations to the original plan occurred during this time. The original family room was
moved to a new space in the addition. The original display room adjacent to the chapel was changed into a
chancel—the wall between the display room and chapel was opened up to accommodate the space. Curved
oak veneer panels were installed in the chancel to serve as a screen and decorative backdrop during
services. Memorial service attendees would face the chancel (looking east). This was a change from the
original orientation when attendees would face west towards the residuary and pulpit during services. The
original pulpit was also removed during the renovation. The display room in the rear of the building was
divided into slumber rooms. The addition provided new display rooms in the basement.

o Post-1948 (exact date unknown): The balustrade above the porch entrance was replaced with the existing
balustrade. The fanlights above the windows and doors on the west facade were replaced with glazing
without mullions.

e 2004 Alterations:

The 1933 neon sign for C.O. Lynn Co. was removed by the previous owners of the building.

e 2005 Alterations:

Four new wood windows were added to the south and east facades (two on each facade) of the original
building. The loading dock at the rear at the original building has been rebuilt to accommodate better access
since it was built high for loading caskets. An aluminum storefront system was installed in the arched
opening on the west side of the porte cochere to accommodate the new use as office space. Aluminum
windows have also been installed in the three arched window openings on the east facade of the addition.
These openings did not have existing windows.

The current owners are in the process of converting the first floor space in the building into offices. This
has resulted in some changes to the configuration of the plan in the back of the building. In most cases,
these are changes to areas that were already altered in the ca. 1950 renovation. The offices and preparation
rooms on the south side remain mostly intact with only minor changes to wall locations. The former music
room has been converted into a conference room and the opening between this room and the chapel has
been walled off. The former chancel and slumber rooms have been reconfigured into space for offices, a
supplies room, and break room. The stairs leading down to the basement garage in the original building
were removed. The former room for pallbearers is now a hallway and the restrooms adjacent to this room
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have been expanded. The port cochere is currently being prepared for office use. Framing for sheetrock
walls has been installed.

The apartment units have been renovated. Over the years, changes have been made to the kitchens and
bathrooms. The large unit retains most of its original floor plan with the exception of the removal of a
former maid’s room off the kitchen. New kitchen cabinets, fixtures and appliances have been added and the
bathrooms have new cabinets and fixtures. The floor plan of the small apartment was changed to provide
better circulation and to add another bedroom. The laundry room was removed since each unit now has its
own washer and dryer. This space was converted into a bathroom and a new bedroom was added. The
original bedroom remains in the same place but a hallway was added outside the bedroom. The kitchen for
this unit was expanded by incorporating the former sewing room space into the kitchen.

A new rooftop deck at the back of the building was built giving residents and office tenants access to open
space with views over the city.
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Narrative Statement of Significance:

The C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home building, located on the western edge of downtown Tacoma, is eligible for
individual listing in the National Register of Historic Places under Criteria A and C. The building was listed on the
Tacoma Register of Historic Places in March 2005. The period of significance begins in 1918 with the construction
of the building and ends in 1950 with the construction of the addition. Commerce is the area of significance
demonstrating the building’s eligibility under Criterion A for its association with broad patterns of history which
led to the continued development of downtown Tacoma as the commercial center of the city. The C.O. Lynn Co.
Funeral Home building housed one of the longest-running and well-respected family-run businesses in Tacoma.
For 86 years, the Lynn family provided funereal services for the community until the Lynn Co. sold the property in
2004. The building is also eligible under Criterion C (area of significance: Architecture) as an excellent example of
the work of a prominent Tacoma architecture firm, Lundberg & Mahon. The addition was designed by another
prominent Tacoma architect, Silas E. Nelsen. However, it is not considered an excellent example of his work.

Historical Development of Tacoma’s Downtown

Tacoma'is situated in western Washington and is the second most populous city in the state. Geographically,
Tacoma was and continues to be shaped by fire and water. It lies in the southern Puget Sound region overlooking
Commencement Bay. The deep sea inlet is an arm of the Pacific Ocean and is named after Peter Puget, an aide to
British Captain George Vancouver who was the first non-native to discover the inlet in 1792. Mount Rainier (elev.
14,410 feet) is an active volcano which rises prominently to the southeast and provides a dramatic backdrop to the
city. Named after British Naval officer Peter Rainier, the mountain’s Indian name is Tacoma. To the north and
south of the city are the Puyallup and Nisqually rivers. The region’s native populations, the Puyallup and Nisqually
Indians, were hunters and gatherers living in an area that provided abundant sources for sustenance—salmon,
shellfish, fowl, seal, dear, and bear in addition to fruits, berries, and plant life.

Euro-American settlement along the shores of Commencement Bay began in the 1850s. Similar to many other
western settlements, Tacoma’s non-native origins began with the railroad. Known as Tacoma City and located a
few miles north of the present downtown, the new settlement slowly attracted pioneer settlers. By the early 1870s,
it boasted a mill, school, public hall, store, hotel and a handful of other businesses supported by a population of
about 100 people.l The area was largely forested, providing ample natural resources for the mill. In 1873, the
Northern Pacific Railroad (NP) announced that it would locate a terminus on Commencement Bay. Tacoma City
had been chosen for the end of the line and Tacomans were elated as they anticipated economic and population
growth and prosperity. However, the NP chose to create a town called New Tacoma on property it had purchased
closer toward the head of the bay, creating an instant rivalry between Tacoma City (Old Tacoma) and New
Tacoma. The Tacoma Land Comipany, the NP’s property development firm, acquired land which included two
miles of waterfront and 2,700 acres of what would become downtown Tacoma. The two towns eventually united in
1884 to become one called Tacoma.
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The city’s land use pattern was dominated by the Tacoma Land Company which developed most of the city. The
Tacoma Land Company controlled the use of parcels by insisting on specific uses before it sold the land. The
company essentially created districts defined by use (such as the wholesale warehouse district, industrial district,
business district, etc.) by virtue of its tight control, and sold land only to those who were interested in developing
within a small geographic area. The city experienced two periods of intensive building: 1888-1892 and 1902-1912.
Like the rest of the country, Tacoma experienced severe economic depression during the panic of 1893 but
rebounded for its biggest building boom in the early 1900s. Between 1900 and 1910 the population grew from
37,714 to 83,743 people. Growth and development continued after 1912. By 1920, the population was 96,743.2

Commencement Bay also played a large role in the development of the city. The City Waterway was created in
1902 to improve commercial activity going into and leaving Tacoma. It allowed Tacoma to become one of the
busiest waterfronts in the country accessible by sea and rail. Vast grain warehouses and lumber and flour mills
developed along the west side of the waterway between the entrances to Commencement Bay and Eleventh Street.
Downtown stood above on the bluffs and bustled with commercial activity. Industrial areas continued to expand
south of downtown and east along the tideflats. The wholesale business was a big industry that developed during
Tacoma’s building boom. Substantial buildings that were constructed for the jobbers (wholesalers) were among the
most expensive and impressive buildings erected during the city’s building boom. Pacific Avenue was the main
commercial thoroughfare in downtown Tacoma but hotels, office buildings, apartments, and stores bustled with
activity on other downtown streets. Industrial buildings were located on the southern end of downtown and along
the tide flats. Development expanded west up the hill towards another bluff as downtown transitioned into a less
densely developed mixed commercial, residential, and institutional area. Tacoma Avenue was a main north-south
arterial above the bluff on the western edge of downtown and served as a transitional street between the central
business district and Tacoma’s first residential neighborhood—the Hilltop.

Tacoma Avenue had an early trolley and streetcar line that linked South Tacoma to the residential neighborhoods
in the Stadium-Seminary district. Historically, the stretch along Tacoma Avenue South where the funeral home
building is sited was mixed use—early twentieth century apartment buildings, single family dwellings, small
businesses, commercial and institutional buildings, and auto service related businesses. The first Carnegie library in
the state of Washington, built in 1903, still stands on Tacoma Avenue South and South 12" Street, just four blocks
south of the C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home building. It continues to function as a library with a modern 1952
addition by Silas E. Nelsen, the same architect who designed the addition to the C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home
building. Because Tacoma Avenue was a main arterial and provided an ideal location in terms of proximity to both
the downtown and residential neighborhoods, the main undertaking firms such as L.M. Gaffney C.C. Mellinger
chose to locate their businesses there. It was on Tacoma Avenue that Clarence O. Lynn chose to build his funeral
home.
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C.0. Lynn Co. Funeral Home

The C.O. Lynn Co. was founded in 1905 by Clarence Oscar Lynn. Born in Wynanet, Illinois, in 1878, Lynn
attended business college in Omaha, Nebraska, where he decided early on to pursue a career as a mortician. He
began his career as a night watchman in an Omaha mortuary. He came to Tacoma in 1901 and found work as an
assistant embalmer for Conrad Hoska who had been in the undertaking business since 1883 when he opened
Tacoma’s first funeral home. Lynn worked his way up to embalmer by 1905. The same year, he married Hilma M.
Johnson, born in Muskegon, Michigan, and raised in Tacoma since early childhood.?

Also in 1905, Lawrence Gaffney moved to Tacoma from San Jose, California and opened Gaffney Funeral Home.
Lynn left Hoska’s company around 1905-06 and went into partnership with Gaffney to form Gaffney and Lynn.
The business operated from 945 Tacoma Ave. S. This partnership was short-lived because by 1908, Gaffney and
Lynn had separate undertaking businesses with Lynn staying at the Tacoma Avenue address while Gaffney moved
one block south to 1010-12 Tacoma Ave. S. Tacoma Avenue proved to be a popular location for funeral homes as
evidenced by the presence of another undertaking firm, C.C. Mellinger, located at 910-12 Tacoma Ave. S., across
the street from Lynn. The C.O. Lynn Co. moved to 910-12 Tacoma Ave. S. in 1910 after Mellinger constructed his
own funeral home building at 508 Tacoma Ave. S., just four blocks to the north. Lynn stayed at 910-12 Tacoma
Ave. S. for ten years before building his own funeral home building at 717 Tacoma Ave. S. in 1918.*

By the time Lynn erected his own building, he had already established himself as a locally prominent businessman
and was involved with many activities and organizations in the community. As a leader in his profession, he served
as President of the Washington State Funeral Directors Association. Lynn was a member of the Free and Accepted
Masons, the Odd Fellows, the Eagles, the Knights of Pythias, the Elks, and the Swedish Order of the Valhalla. He
belonged to the Fircrest Golf Club and the Chamber of Commerce. He and his wife were members of the First
Lutheran Church for which he served as a trustee. Mrs. Lynn was also active in club and civic affairs, being a
member of the Stadium High School Parent-Teacher Association, treasurer of the Tacoma Day Nursery
Association, past president of the Illike Study Club, member of the Women’s Club and the Tacoma Chapter of the
Ordersof the Eastern Star, and first president and organizer of the Ladies of Kiwanis of the Downtown Kiwanis
Club.

Lynn ran his company as a private, family-owned business. He had a reputation for providing great care and
comfort to those who availed themselves of his services. In order to compete with the half a dozen or so other
undertaking businesses in Tacoma, Lynn decided to build a modern facility to provide the best possible services.
He researched and visited other funeral homes on the west coast and adopted the best features of each. The Tacoma
Daily Ledger followed the progress of the new building, which was designed by the locally prominent architecture
firm, Lundberg & Mahon. As construction was underway in June of 1918, Lynn described his project: “We will
have one of the most modemn funeral parlors in the northwest when our new building is completed. The structure
will contain every convenience required in an undertaking establishment and the chapel will be one of the main
features. It will be much larger than the one in our present quarters and the finishing decorations will be modern in
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every detail.”®

The building was completed in December 1918 at a cost of $35,000.” The Tacoma Daily Ledger described the new
undertaking building as a model for funeral homes. Every room and floor had a specific function. The basement
was accessed through the alley. It contained a garage, furnace and boiler rooms, storage room, workshop, and
display room. Bodies were to be received in the basement and taken to the first floor in an electric elevator. Two
vaults provided storage of bodies in the basement. The garage was used for parking the hearse and limousine. The
basement space was strictly utilitarian with reinforced concrete floors. The first floor was accessed through a
formal main entrance through the porch on the west side, which opened into a lobby. To the right (south) was the
main office and a private office. To the left (north) was a private reception room which led into a family room. The
family room was used by family members during services and was adjacent to the residuary, the room that
contained the casket during services. A music room was adjacent on the other side of the residuary. The chapel had
a seating capacity for 200 persons. Two large display rooms and two small ones were located in the rear of the
building for the display of caskets, urns, and burial garments. Two preparation rooms for embalming and preparing
bodies for services were at the southeast corner of the floor near the elevator that carried the bodies between the
basement and first floor. Three slumber rooms were located on the south side of the building between the small
display rooms and the restrooms. The slumber room was equipped with a bed upon which the deceased,
appropriated dressed, laid in state prior to being placed into a casket the day of the funeral. A corridor separated the
more public rooms such as the chapel from the private rooms. The first floor was covered with four kinds of
flooring material: maple, oak, fir, and concrete. The walls were painted in gold, ivory, and gray colors.

The building was constructed with two apartment units on the second floor, accessed through a separate entry and
stairs on the south end of the west side of the building. The larger unit was used by the Lynn family as living
quarters and the smaller unit was used by employees. The larger unit contained two bedrooms, a bathroom, a large
living room and dining room, a kitchen and a maid’s room adjacent to the kitchen at the southwest corner. The
smaller unit on the south and east sides contained one bedroom, bathroom, living room, a breakfast room, and
kitchen. A sewing room was located near the stairs and accessed through a door off the corridor. A common
laundry room in the southeast corner was accessed through an exterior door between the units that led out onto the
rooftop.

Generations of the Lynn family worked and ran the undertaking business. Lynn’s older son, C. Nathan Lynn, joined
the firm in 1933, and his younger son, J. Marvin Lynn, joined in 1938. By 1941, the business had grown and Lynn
needed more space. He retained the services of architect Silas E. Nelsen to design an addition to the building. Plans
for the building were dated 1941 but actual construction of the addition did not occur until 1950. The three Lynns
formed a partnership in 1948 which continued until the death of Clarence O. Lynn in 1962 at the age of 84. C.
Nathan Lynn died one year after his father in 1963 at the age of 55. Like his parents, C. Nathan Lynn was a well-
respected and active member in his community.

J. Marvin Lynn operated the firm as a sole proprietorship for two years until 1965 when he incorporated the
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business with his wife, Miriam, and son, John M. Lynn. Around this time, the name of the business was changed
slightly from C.O. Lynn Co. to Lynn Funeral Home. John Lynn became the third generation in his family to run the
business. A graduate of Washington State University with a degree in business administration, John Lynn worked
at the funeral home for two years before attending the San Francisco College of Mortuary Science, graduating with
honors in 1963. He then went back to the family business becoming a partner in 1965. J. Marvin Lynn died in 1969
at the age of 57. In 1971, the corporation was purchased by John M. Lynn and his wife, Sally A. Lynn. They
continued to operate one of the most well-respected businesses in the city, offering the same quality of service that
John Lynn’s grandfather had first provided in the early part of the twentieth century. The C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral
Home was the only funeral service business in Tacoma that retained its family ownership. The other longstanding
businesses (Mellinger, Gaffney, Cassedy & Allen, Hoska, and Buckley-King) had all merged with each other or
with other companies by the 1980s.

In the fall of 2004, John and Sally Lynn retired from the undertaking business but retained ownership of the
company. Management was turned over to the Weeks family and the business was moved to 220 — 134" St. S. in
Tacoma and merged with Weeks’ Dryer Mortuary. The Lynns sold the building in December of 2004 to Seven-
Seventeen Investors, LLC, a five-member group of local business people who are converting the building into
office use while maintaining the residential units.

The Architects

Lundberg & Mahon

In 1917, Clarence O. Lynn retained the services of the Tacoma architecture firm, Lundberg & Mahon, to design a
building for his funeral home. Ed Young served as the contractor. The building was described by Clarence O. Lynn
as “modern in every detail” and cost $35,000 to build. It was a “fireproof” building with a modermn electrical
system, plumbing, and living quarters for the Lynn family. The building was representative of both the quality and
design by Lundberg & Mahon. From early 1913 through the 1923, the firm designed a wide variety of buildings
and was most prolific in the 1910s, the same decade in which the funeral home was built. Charles Frederick W.
Lundberg and C. Frank Mahon dissolved their partnership in 1923 but came together again in 1929 to form another
partnership (Lundberg, Mahon, & Ekvall) which lasted until 1941.

Born in 1882, Charles Frederick W. Lundberg practiced architecture in Tacoma from 1908 until 1941 when he
retired and moved to Whidbey Island, Washington. He was a junior partner in the firm of Potter and Lundberg in
1908, with Myron Potter serving as senior partner and Lundberg serving as junior partner. This partnership lasted
for only a year or two. He subsequently practiced on his own and in 1913, he entered into a partnership with
architect C. Frank Mahon. Mahon, born in 1888, was a grandson of Christopher Mahon, well-known Pierce County
pioneer who sailed around Cape Horn to settle in the Puget Sound region in 1849. Mahon was born on his
grandfather’s donation claim in an area of Tacoma that became the Brookdale Golf Course in 1931. Mahon began
his architectural training as a draftsman for 1. Jay Knapp in Tacoma in 1908. By 1910, he and Knapp were partners
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in the firm of Knapp & Mahon. This partnership was short-lived because in 1912, Mahon began his own
architectural practice. He was past president of the Brookdale Golf Club and a member of the American Engineers
Society and the National Architects Society. Lundberg & Mahon had their offices in the Provident Building in
downtown Tacoma. Both men received their Washington State architects’ licenses in 1919, the first year the state
enacted the architects’ registration law. Their firm was unique because it offered architectural design and
engineering services. A 1921 Tacoma Daily Ledger article described the firm: “Since the formation of the
partnership in 1913 the firm has planned and supervised the construction of something more than 230 better class
buildings, many of them institutions. Lundberg & Mahon represent the newer school of architecture, in that they
have assimilated and combined an engineering department with their regular department of architecture, thereby
enabling builders to place the entire business of construction in the hands of one firm, a great factor in efficient
design and erection of the building, experts assert.”®

Lundberg & Mahon designed commercial, institutional, industrial, and residential buildings of varying sizes in
Tacoma and other communities in western Washington. The firm had several commissions associated with the
Catholic Church including their most notable work—the Gothic Revival style Holy Rosary Catholic Church (1920)
at 520 South 30™ St. The church served Tacoma’s German-American community and stands as a landmark in the
South Tacoma neighborhood. It was listed in the Tacoma Register of Historic Places in 1975. The firm’s Gothic
Revival designs for the main buildings at Saint Martin’s College in Lacey, Washington date from 1913 and 1919—
these buildings remain the heart of the campus. Lundberg & Mahon’s only National Register listed property is the
Knights of Columbus Community Center and War Memorial Building (1921) at 1611 Everett Ave. in Everett,
Washington. This three-story, Beaux Arts-American Renaissance style building is located in downtown Everett and
serves as the Masonic Temple.

Extant examples of other work in Tacoma include: the Scandinavian Salvation Army (1914) at 1114 South 12" St.,
Antone Davis Building/Spar Restaurant (1916) at 2121-23 North 30™ St., Steam Baking Co. (1917) at 913-15
Center St., Sauriol-Martin Building/Orpheum Theater (1919) at 5442-44 South Tacoma Way, Northern Pacific
Bank (1914) at 5446-48 South Tacoma Way, City Transfer and Storage Co. (1916) at 615 Tacoma Ave. S., and the
P.N. Wallerich House (1923) at 3634 North Stevens St. Most of the commercial buildings are one to three stories
in height, constructed of masonry, and vernacular in nature and are not excellent examples of their work. The C.O.
Lynn Co. Funeral Home is the only building of its type that Lundberg & Mahon designed. It represents an excellent
example of the scope of their work as it was a state-of-the-art facility when it was built and has retained a high
level of integrity. They designed the building in a popular early twentieth century revival style at the time—
Classical Revival.

Lundberg & Mahon dissolved their partnership in 1923 after ten years in business together. Mahon took over their
Seattle office and Lundberg remained in Tacoma and opened up his own office. In 1925, Clarence O. Lynn
commissioned Lundberg to design his private residence at 702 North C St. The Lynn family moved out of the
apartment above the funeral home and moved into the new residence. In 1926, Lundberg entered into a shortlived
partnership with A. Frederick Ekvall. Mahon and Lundberg reunited in 1929 and formed a partnership with Ekvall
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becoming Lundberg, Mahon, & Ekvall, with offices in Tacoma and Seattle. The firm dissolved in 1941 when
Lundberg retired and moved to Whidbey Island. Mahon died in Tacoma in 1947 at the age of 59. Services were
hekgi in the funeral home he had designed with Lundberg. After a long illness, Lundberg died in 1964 at the age of
82.

Silas E. Nelsen

By 1941, the C.O. Lynn Co.’s business was growing and Clarence Lynn saw the need to expand his facilities. He
retained another prominent local architect, Silas E. Nelsen, to design a one-story addition and lower level
expansion on the north side of the building. Construction did not take place until 1950 when City building records
show a permit were issued for the addition. Nelsen designed an addition that was secondary to the original
building. His design was more restrained on the exterior and the port cochere was purely functional in design. The
interior reflected some of the Classical elements of the original building with paneled walls, trim, and molding.

Nelsen had a long and prolific career as an architect in Tacoma. He designed over 150 residences, fifteen churches,
the main library addition on Tacoma Avenue (1952), four branch libraries, the Tacoma City Light Administration
Building (1953), Public Utilities Building (1953), and most of the University of Puget Sound and several fraternity
buildings (1920s-1960s). Without formal architectural training or a college education, Nelsen walked into the
offices of Heath, Gove and Bell (one of the premier architecture firms in the region) in 1915 and said he wanted to
be an architect.'® He worked as a draftsman for the firm approximately five years and opened up his own practice
in 1919-20. He and his wife, Gerda, would go on to have one son, Silas E. Nelsen Jr. Nelsen’s buildings reflected
the prevailing styles of the period. His first buildings varied from Classical to Colonial, while later works were
more Modern in style. Born in 1893, he retired in 1971 at the age of 78 after a long career. Throughout his life,
Nelsen continued the old family tradition of boat building. At the age 84, he was building his 17" boat. Nelsen died
in 1987 at the age of 94."!

The funeral home addition is not considered an excellent example of his work compared to his more well-known
work at the University of Puget Sound and his public buildings but it served the C.O. Lynn Co. business well for
decades.

Summary

The C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home building exemplifies commercial enterprise and growth in Tacoma in the
twentieth century. Over a span of 86 years, many funeral services and memorials have been held in the C.O. Lynn
Co. Funeral Home building. Families, friends, and communities came to remember and grieve their loved ones and
to support each other. The long-term ownership of the property and business by the original family and subsequent
generations represents one of the oldest and longest-running business enterprises in Tacoma. The funeral home
building was designed for a specific use and at the time of construction was a state of the art facility. The building
helped serve as an anchor to the community along with the original Tacoma Public High School across the street
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which is now used as the School District Administrative Headquarters. The building is an excellent example of the
work of the locally prominent architecture firm of Lundberg & Mahon and is an example of another well-respected
Tacoma architect, Silas E. Nelsen. The C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home remains in its original location and maintains
a setting, feeling, and association similar to when it was built. Its exterior is largely unchanged and many of the
interior spaces, volumes, and finishes have been retained.

Endnotes
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Verbal Boundary Description

The nominated property is located in the NE Y4 of Section 05 in Township 20, Range 03E in Tacoma, Washington.
Legal description: Lots 7 through 12 of Block 711, New Tacoma Addition.
Parcel number: 2007110150

Boundary Justification

The nominated property encompasses the entire tax lot historically associated with the C.O. Lynn Funeral Home.
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Contemporary Photograph Log

10f20

C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home

717 Tacoma Ave. S.

Tacoma, Pierce County, WA

Photographer: Eugenia Woo

Date: July 2005

View: Tacoma Avenue South, looking north
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C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home

717 Tacoma Ave. S.

Tacoma, Pierce County, WA

Photographer: Eugenia Woo

Date: July 2005

View: East (rear) facade of original (1918) building
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C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home
717 Tacoma Ave. S.
Tacoma, Pierce County, WA
Photographer: Eugenia Woo
Date: July 2005

View: Court E, looking north
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C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home

717 Tacoma Ave. S.

Tacoma, Pierce County, WA

Photographer: Spencer Howard

Date: August 2004

View: North and west facades of addition, looking
southeast
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C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home
717 Tacoma Ave. S.

Tacoma, Pierce County, WA
Photographer: Spencer Howard
Date: August 2004

View: Main (west) facade
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C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home

717 Tacoma Ave. S.

Tacoma, Pierce County, WA

Photographer: Eugenia Woo

Date: July 2005

View: West facade of porte cochere addition and
long driveway
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C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home

717 Tacoma Ave. S.

Tacoma, Pierce County, WA

Photographer: Eugenia Woo

Date: July 2005

View: North and west facades, looking southeast

90f 20

C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home

717 Tacoma Ave. S.

Tacoma, Pierce County, WA
Photographer: Eugenia Woo

Date: July 2005

View: East (rear) facade of addition
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C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home

717 Tacoma Ave. S.

Tacoma, Pierce County, WA

Photographer: Eugenia Woo

Date: July 2005

View: South facade and partial east facade, looking
northwest

10 of 20

C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home

717 Tacoma Ave. S.

Tacoma, Pierce County, WA
Photographer: Eugenia Woo

Date: July 2005

View: West (main) entrance through porch
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C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home

717 Tacoma Ave. S.

Tacoma, Pierce County, WA

Photographer: Eugenia Woo

Date: July 2005

View: Secondary west entrance at north end
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C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home

717 Tacoma Ave. S.

Tacoma, Pierce County, WA

Photographer: Eugenia Woo

Date: July 2005

View: South wall of drawing room in addition

12 of 20

C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home
717 Tacoma Ave. S.
Tacoma, Pierce County, WA
Photographer: Eugenia Woo
Date: July 2005

View: Multi-lite casement windows, second floor.

Wood brackets and rafters under eave.
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C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home

717 Tacoma Ave. S.

Tacoma, Pierce County, WA

Photographer: Eugenia Woo

Date: July 2005

View: Historic wood stairs at south end leading up
to second floor apartments
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C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home
717 Tacoma Ave. S.
Tacoma, Pierce County, WA
Photographer: Eugenia Woo
Date: July 2005

View: Lobby, looking south

18 of 20

C.0O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home

717 Tacoma Ave. S.

Tacoma, Pierce County, WA

Photographer: Eugenia Woo

Date: July 2005

View: Living room with historic fireplace, shelves,
and oak floor large apartment unit

14 of 20

C.0O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home

717 Tacoma Ave. S.

Tacoma, Pierce County, WA

Photographer: Eugenia Woo

Date: July 2005

View: Historic trim work and details outside
opening to an office near lobby
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C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home

717 Tacoma Ave. S.

Tacoma, Pierce County, WA

Photographer: Eugenia Woo

Date: July 2005

View: Porte cochere interior with outline of the
vehicle turntable

15 0f 20

C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home

717 Tacoma Ave. S.

Tacoma, Pierce County, WA

Photographer: Eugenia Woo

Date: July 2005

View: Chapel room with historic paneled walls,
wainscot, and pilasters, looking west
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C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home

717 Tacoma Ave. S.

Tacoma, Pierce County, WA

Photographer: Eugenia Woo

Date: July 2005

View: Basement with concrete floor and wood trim
work around opening
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Assessors plat map detail showing the locati‘on of the C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home in the shaded area.
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1896 Sanborn Fire Insurance Map showing site of future C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home with previous buildings
on the property.
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1919. C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home. West (main) facade. Washington State Historical Society. Marvin B
photographer.
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1924. C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home. West (main) facade. Tacoma Public Library. Marvin Boland photographer.
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1931. C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home. Company hearse in front of building. Washington State Historical Society.
Chapin Bowen photographer.
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1944. C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home. West (main) facade. Washington State Historical Society. Chapin Bowen
photographer.
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1948. C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home. West (main) facade and partial south facade, looking northeast. Tacoma
Public Library.
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1951. C.O. Lynn Co. Funeral Home. Interior photograph taken from the chapel looking into the residuary in
center (with casket). Pulpit is on far left. Tacoma Public Library.
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